## RECEIVED

02-27-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

## COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2018AP2340-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TROY R. LASECKI,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Notice of Appeal to Review the Judgment of Conviction and the Order Denying Motion for Postconviction Relief in the Circuit Court for Outagamie County, the Honorable Mark J. McGinnis Presiding.

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ANA L. BABCOCK State Bar No. 1063719 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

BABCOCK LAW, LLC 130 E. Walnut Street, St. 602 P.O. Box 22441 Green Bay, WI 54305 (920) 884-6565 ababcock@babcocklaw.org

###

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. Whether the circuit court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because the crime of which Lasecki was convicted is not known to law?

The circuit court answered no.

II. If this offense is a crime, would an ordinary person have sufficient notice that this conduct constituted a crime?

The circuit court answered yes.

III. Did the circuit court impermissibly order twice any arguable pecuniary loss as restitution?

The circuit court answered no.

## POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Lasecki welcomes the opportunity for oral argument. This case is ineligible for publication. Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(b)(4).

### SUMMARY OF THE CASE

This is a peculiar case in which the State created the crime of "failure to return a security deposit and/or a statement of withholdings within 21 days after the termination of a rental agreement" based on a bizarre jumbling of various obscure statutes and invalid administrative code regulations. Lasecki was convicted of two counts of this "crime," was sentenced to 18 months in jail, and was ordered to pay in excess of \$8,000 as a result. This "crime" does not exist. Even if the Court arrives at the conclusion that it does, the

joining of these illogically connected statutes and invalid code regulations gave Lasecki insufficient notice that his passive conduct could constitute a crime. Although the misdemeanor designation of this case may suggest that the issues presented are simple, they are anything but based on the State's haphazard creation of a crime.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 12, 2017, the State filed a criminal against Troy Lasecki Development, LLC (hereinafter "TLD, LLC") and the defendant, Troy Lasecki, charging two counts of a crime it titled "Returning Security Deposits." R. 2. The criminal complaint alleged that the defendants "did as a landlord fail to deliver or mail to [the tenant] the full amount of any security deposit paid by the tenant, less any authorized withholdings, within 21 days after termination of the rental agreement contra (sic) to Wisconsin Statute Section 100.20(2) and, contrary to sec. ATCP 134.06(2), 100.26(3) . . . ." R. 2. The complaint included two counts, one relative to tenant J.B. and one to tenant J.J.

Prior to conviction, Lasecki was never represented by counsel, although he repeatedly asserted his right to counsel. R. 70:4; R. 71:2-3; R. 75:23. Nonetheless, the court permitted Lasecki to represent himself at trial without conducting the mandatory colloquy and without determining whether Lasecki knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to counsel. *State v. Klessig*, 211 Wis. 2d 194, ¶¶ 13-14, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997).¹ In addition,

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Lasecki does not raise this issue as an independent basis for relief.

even though the court "question[ed] whether or not you have competency-type issues," it failed to make a determination as to whether Lasecki was competent to proceed pro se. *Id.*, ¶ 23; R. 77:214. Lasecki repeatedly challenged the circuit court's jurisdiction over this case. R. 9; R. 19; R. 20; R. 25; R. 28; R. 70:3-4; R. 71:2; R. 72:3-4; R. 74:2; R. 75:3; R. 77:10.

Prior to trial, the State changed the crime it alleged Lasecki committed to be defined as follows: that he "did not return the security deposit and/or a statement of withholdings within 21 days after the termination of the rental agreement." R. 27:1 (emphasis added). According to the evidence at trial, TLD, LLC and J.B. entered into a one-year lease agreement commencing on February 15, 2016 and ending on February 14, 2017. R. 43; R.77:70, 72. J.B. was required to pay rent each and every month until the conclusion of the rental period. R. 43. Pursuant to the agreement, J.B. paid TLD, LLC a security deposit in the amount of \$730. R. 77:71.

J.B. testified that he moved out of the apartment before the end of the lease agreement and that he paid rent only through September 2016. *Id.* at 73. When asked whether someone else moved into the apartment, J.B. testified that "[i]n September I saw. It's the two apartments above the garage. I saw people on a regular basis because I work. I work nearby other people in the apartment." *Id.* at 73-74. J.B. testified that he did not receive the security deposit back and that he did not receive a statement of the reasons the security deposit was not returned. *Id.* at 77.

As to tenant J.J., the evidence showed that on March 25, 2016, J.J. entered into a month-to-month lease agreement with TLD,LLC and paid a security deposit of \$840. R. 40; R. 77:92-94. J.J. testified that he gave TLD, LLC written notice of his intent to vacate on April 29, 2016 and that he paid rent for the next two months. R. 77:94-95. Pursuant to the agreement between the parties, J.J. was required to give sixty days notice of his intent to vacate. R. 40, ¶ 27. J.J. paid rent only through June 2016. R. 77:95. J.J. testified that he did not receive the security deposit back and that he did not receive a statement of the reasons the security deposit was not returned. R. 77:95.

The court instructed the jury that the crime is defined as follows:

- 1. The defendant was a landlord.
- 2. The defendant rented an apartment to the tenant.
- 3. The defendant collected a security deposit from the tenant.
- 4. The defendant did not return the security deposit *and/or* a statement of withholdings within 21 days after the termination of the rental agreement.
- 5. The defendant intentionally failed to return the security deposit to the tenant.
- R. 30:2; R. 77:168 (emphasis added). In closing arguments, the State relied on this duplications theory asserting, "[e]ven if he was [entitled to retain the security deposit], he would still have to have a

statement of withholdings to explain why he kept that money." R. 77:181, see also R. 77:187.

The jury found Lasecki<sup>2</sup> guilty of both counts. R. 31-32. Following the verdicts, the court proceeded to sentencing immediately. R. 77:197-98. The court placed Lasecki on probation for two years and imposed the following conditions: 1) that Lasecki notify the Wisconsin Real Estate Association of his convictions within ten days;<sup>3</sup> 2) that Lasecki give notice to each of his 100 current tenants of his convictions for "mishandling and illegally keeping the security deposits of tenants"; and 3) that Lasecki provide notice in future business transactions that he has been convicted of "mishandling and illegally keeping security deposits of two tenants." *Id.* at 215-17.

In addition, the court imposed a fine of \$2,000 on each count, for a total fine of \$4,000, payable within thirty days. *Id.* at 217-18. The court further ordered restitution, plus the surcharge, for a total of \$1,727 due within ten days. *Id.* at 218. Also, the court ordered that Lasecki pay "[J.B.] an additional \$730 and [J.J.] an additional \$840, which is another \$1,570; and those amounts will be paid to them within the next ten days as well in the form of restitution or amounts that you are required to do because the statutes and the code in the state of Wisconsin allow for double damages when a landlord violates that section of the code." *Id.* at 218-19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Before the trial began, the State moved to dismiss the charges against the company, TLD, LLC, and proceeded only against Lasecki personally. R. 77:11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The court indicated it hoped the Association would take administrative action against Lasecki's real estate license. R. 77:202, 215-16

Finally, the court ordered conditional jail time of nine months on each count consecutive but stayed all nine months on count two and stayed seven of the nine months on count one. *Id.* at 219. Lasecki was immediately taken into custody to serve sixty days in jail.<sup>4</sup> *Id.* at 220.

Lasecki subsequently retained counsel and, on August 16, 2018, filed a motion for postconviction relief on the following grounds: 1) the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because the crimes are not known to law; 2) Lasecki was denied due process to sufficient notice that his conduct constituted a crime; and 3) the court impermissibly ordered restitution above the victims' pecuniary losses. R. 57; R. 62. The court denied the motion, and this appeal follows.<sup>5</sup> R. 67-68.

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT LACKED SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE CRIME OF WHICH LASECKI WAS CONVICTED IS NOT KNOWN TO LAW
  - A. Legal Principles and Standard of Review

Criminal subject matter jurisdiction is the "power of a court to inquire into the charge of the crime, to apply the law, and to declare the punishment in the court . . ." *Kelley v. State*, 54 Wis. 2d 475, 479, 195 N.W.2d 457, 459 (1972)(quoting *Pillsbury v. State*.

6

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> After Lasecki spent fourteen days in jail and paid all of the restitution and fines, the court stayed the remaining jail time. R. 59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Given the complexity of the issues raised, Lasecki will outline the circuit court's reasons for denying the motion in his argument.

31 Wis. 2d 87, 94, 142 N.W.2d 187 (1966)). Where the offense does not exist, the trial court lacks jurisdiction. *State v. Christensen*, 110 Wis. 2d 538, 542, 329 N.W.2d 382 (1983).

To determine whether a crime is recognized Court engages under the in interpretation, starting with the statutory language. State v. Henning, 2013 WI App 15, ¶ 12, 346 Wis. 2d 246, 828 N.W.2d 235 (citing State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110). If the meaning of the statute is plain, the Court ends the inquiry and applies the plain meaning. Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 45. interpreting a statute, the court gives "reasonable effect to every word, in order to avoid surplusage." *Id.*, ¶ 46. Whether a court has jurisdiction presents an issue of law, which this Court reviews de novo. State v. Webster, 196 Wis. 2d 308, 316, 538 N.W.2d 810 (Ct. App. 1995).

The initial inquiry is to determine what the "crime" is in this case, a difficult task in itself. In this case, the "crime" of which Mr. Lasecki was convicted is not contained within the criminal code or within any single statute for that matter. Rather, the State created this crime by the piecemeal application of several obscure statues and administrative code regulations. The criminal complaint titled the crime "Returning Security Deposits" and alleged that the defendants "did as a landlord fail to deliver or mail to [the tenant] the full amount of any security deposit paid by the tenant, less any authorized withholdings, within 21 days after termination of the rental agreement contra (sic) to Wisconsin Statute Section

100.20(2) and, contrary to sec. ATCP 134.06(2), 100.26(3) . . . . "6 R. 2. The complaint included two counts, one relative to tenant J.B. and one to tenant J.J.

The State then expanded the definition of the crime by asserting that Lasecki was guilty when he "did not return the security deposit and/or a statement of withholdings within 21 days after the termination of the rental agreement." R. 27:1 (emphasis added). In closing arguments, the State repeatedly asserted that Lasecki was guilty either by failing to return the security deposit or by failing to provide a statement of withholdings. R. 77:179-183, 185, 187. The court instructed the jury that one of the elements of the crime is that Lasecki "did not return the security deposit and/or a statement of withholdings within 21 days after the termination of the rental agreement." R. 30:2; R. 77:168. The jury found Lasecki guilty based on these elements. *Id.* at 192.

Neither the offense charged nor the offense of which Lasecki was convicted is a crime.

### B. The Offense Charged is not a Crime

The State created this crime by attempting to apply the criminal penalties contained within Wis. Stat. § 100.26(3)<sup>7</sup> to a violation of Wisconsin Adm. Code § ATCP 134.06(2) by stacking various laws. R. 2; Wisconsin Adm. Code § ATCP 134.06(2)(Register, Aug.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The complaint also cited the provisions relating to the imposition of the DNA surcharge. R. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Unless otherwise noted, Lasecki will reference the 2013-14 version of the statutes, published January 1, 2015, as the State alleged that the crimes were committed on or about September 21, 2016. R. 2.

2016)8. Reaching this conclusion requires the Court to travel through several obscure and illogically connected provisions to determine whether a violation of Wisconsin Adm. Code § ATCP 134.06 is subject to criminal sanctions under Wis. Stat. § 100.26(3). The rules of statutory construction, however, prevent the Court from reaching this result. In addition, the code provision on which the State relies, § ATCP 134.06, is invalid.

1. The rules of statutory construction prohibit the criminal penalties of Wis. Stat. § 100.26(3) from applying to violations of § ATCP 134.06

We must first start our journey with the chapter from which the criminal penalty is derived, Wisconsin Statutes Chapter 100. This chapter is not contained anywhere in relation to the criminal code (Wis. Stat. Chpts. 939-951) or landlord tenant laws (Wis. Stat. Chpt. 704); rather, it is a catchall chapter addressing various topics including, "guessing contests," "fitness center staff requirements," "vehicle rustproofing warranties," and "hour meter tampering," among others. See e.g., Wis. Stats. §§ 100.17, 100.178, 100.205, 100.48.

The particular penalty provision, Wis. Stat. § 100.26(3), provides that "Any person ... who intentionally refuses, neglects or fails to obey any regulation or order made or issued under s. 100.19 or 100.20, shall, for each offense, be fined not less than \$25 nor more than \$5,000, or imprisoned in

9

 $<sup>^8</sup>$  All references to Wisconsin Adm. Code  $\$  ATCP 134.06 will be to the August 2016 register.

the county jail for not more than one year or both." Knowing what the penalty is, one must next determine what conduct results in this penalty, which brings us to Wis. Stat. § 100.20(2), referenced in Wis. Stat. § 100.26(3) and in the complaint. Wis. Stat. § 100.26(3); R. 2. Wis. Stat. § 100.20(2)(a) provides that,

The department, after public hearing, may issue general orders forbidding methods of competition in business or trade practices in business which are determined by the department to be unfair. The department, after public hearing, may issue general orders prescribing methods of competition in business or trade practices in business which are determined by the department to be fair.

The "department" is not defined in Chapter 100; thus, it is unclear from Chapter 100 whose "orders" one must follow and what those "orders" are. The State attempted to criminalize Lasecki's conduct by interpreting the "department" to mean "Department of Agriculture, Trade, and Consumer Protection" (hereinafter "DATCP") and by interpreting "orders" to mean the administrative regulations contained in Wisconsin Adm. Code § ATCP 134.06. R. According to the State's logic, Lasecki violated Wisconsin Adm. Code § ATCP 134.06, which is an "order" issued under the authority of Wis. Stat. § 100.20(2); because Lasecki violated an "order" issued under Wis. Stat. § 100.20(2), he is subject to the criminal penalties of Wis. Stat. § 100.26(3). See R. 2. The rules of statutory interpretation, however, prohibit the Court from reaching this conclusion.

Administrative code provisions are considered to be "rules and regulations." *Moonlight v. Boyce*, 125 Wis. 2d 298, 303, 372 N.W.2d 479 (Ct. App. 1985); *Paulik v. Coombs*, 120 Wis. 2d 431, 436, 355 N.W.2d 357 (Ct. App. 1984). However, Wis. Stat. § 100.20(2) gives the "department" authority to issue only "orders," not regulations. Thus, Wis. Stat. § 100.20(2), by its plain language, does not give the "department" the authority to issue the "regulations" of Wisconsin Adm. Code § 134.06.

In interpreting a statute, the court starts with the language of the statute. Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 45. If the meaning is plain, the inquiry ends. Id. To the extent there is any ambiguity in the statute, the rules of statutory construction dictate that the terms "orders" and "regulations" be given separate meanings. See id., ¶ 46. The Court interprets a statute "to give reasonable effect to every word, in order to avoid surplusage." Id.

In other areas of the statutes, the legislature used separate terms for "orders" and "regulations." The most poignant example is in the criminal penalty statute at issue, which states that whoever does not "obey any *regulation* or *order* made or issued under . . . s. 100.20 . . . . " Wis. Stat. § 100.26(3)(emphasis Interpreting the words "regulation" and added). "order" to be synonymous renders one of the words superfluous. Thus, the legislature intended these words to have separate meanings, and Wis. Stat. § 100.20(2)authorizing the department to issue "orders," does not authorize it to issue the "regulations" of Wisconsin Adm. Code § 134.06. See Kalal, ¶ 46.

The connection between the criminal penalties of § 100.26(3) and the regulations of Wisconsin Adm. Code § ATCP 134.06 short-circuits at the proffered—and essential—connecting point: §100.20(2). As a result, a violation of the regulations of Wisconsin Adm. Code § ATCP 134.06 is not a crime under § 100.26(3).

2. Even if the criminal penalties of Wis. Stat. § 100.26(3) apply to violations of § ATCP 134.06, the legislature usurped any authority the department had to regulate a landlord's duties with respect to security deposits when it enacted Wis. Stat. § 704.28

In 2012, the legislature created Wis. Stat. § 704.28, in which the legislature sought to regulate a landlord's return and withholding of a tenant's security deposit. 2011 ACT 143, § 22. At the same time, the legislature also enacted § 704.95, which indicates that "the department of agriculture, trade and consumer protection may not issue an order or promulgate a rule under s. 100.20 that changes any right or duty arising under this chapter." Wis. Stat. § 704.95; 2011 ACT 143, § 36. The statute regulating a landlord's return or withholding of a security deposit largely mirrors a landlord's duties regulated by Wisconsin Adm. Code § ATCP 134.06. Wis. Stat. § 704.28.

There is, however, one critical difference: § 704.28 does not require a landlord to provide the tenant with a written statement accounting for the amounts withheld. Wis. Stat. § 704.28; Wisconsin Adm. Code § ATCP 134.06(4). As a result, in enacting

§ 704.28, the legislature usurped the department's authority to regulate a landlord's duties relative to the return or withholding of a tenant's security deposit, and the code regulation promulgating different duties is invalid. See Wis. Stat. § 704.95. Accordingly, there is no crime known to law for a violation of the invalid regulations of Wisconsin Adm. Code § ATCP 134.

C. The Crime the State Prosecuted, and the Crime for which Lasecki was Convicted, does not Exist.

Although the State charged Lasecki with violating the requirements of § ATCP 134.06(2), a failure to return security deposits less authorized withholdings, the crime for which it prosecuted Lasecki, was very different. This is an unusual case where we cannot look to a specific statute or pattern jury instruction to determine the definition of the crime. When the State invents a crime, as it did in this case, the elements of the offense become a crucial component in evaluating whether the crime exists. The State defined the crime as follows:

- 1. The defendant was a landlord.
- 2. The defendant rented an apartment to the tenant.
- 3. The defendant collected a security deposit from the tenant.
- 4. The defendant did not return the security deposit and/or a statement of

13

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