# **RECEIVED** 03-28-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2018AP2340-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

TROY ROBERT LASECKI,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN CIRCUIT COURT ONE FOR OUTAGAMIE COUNTY

The Honorable Mark J. McGinnis, Presiding

BRIEF & APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Chuck M. Stertz ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY 320 S. WALNUT STREET APPLETON WI 54911 (920) 832-5024 Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent Wisconsin Bar Number 1072938

# STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Troy Robert Lasecki

QUESTIONS PRESENTED									
POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION7									
STATEMENT OF THE CASE7									
STANDARD OF REVIEW14									
ARGUMENT									
constitut criminal	legislature has the ional authority to create penalties for violations strative law16								
a. Notice .									
i.	People Know stealing is a crime: the statutory scheme is not complicated18								
ii.	No Right to engage in unfair trade practices18								
iii.	Reasonable people know violating the law results in repercussions and penalties20								
iv.	Complexity of this crime compared to others20								
ν.	The placement of the crime in the ATCP code and ch. 100 is logical and provides the most notice								
vi.	Crime is constitutional as applied to Troy Lasecki25								

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Troy Robert Lasecki
b. Vagueness
i. Scope and purpose29
ii. Tenants' right to challenge a withholding
iii. Conclusion: criminal penalties are constitutional
c. Current Administrative Code
II. Sufficiency of the Evidence
a. Jury instructions and Arguments35
b. Unanimous Jury
c. Landlord's right to mitigation
d. Harmless Error40
III. A tenant suffering a pecuniary loss because of a violation of §100.20 shall recover twice the amount of the pecuniary loss
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATION

# STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Troy Robert Lasecki TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# CASE CITED:

Armour v. Klecker, 169 Wis. 2d 692, 550 N.W.2d 563 (Ct. App. 1992).....15,16,32 Baierl v. McTaggart, 2001 WI 107, 245 Wis. 2d 632, 629 N.W.2d 277.....28 Boelter v. Tschantz, 2010 WI App 18, 323 Wis. 2d 208, 779 N.W.2d 461.....6,14,18,32,42 Dahl v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 36 Wis. 2d 420, 153 N.W.2d 624 (1967).....15 MMSD v. Evers, 2014 WI App 18, 357 Wis. 2d 550, Petition of State ex rel Attorney General, 220 Pierce v. Norwick, 202 Wis. 2d 587, 550 N.W.2d 451 (Ct. App. 1996).....15,16,32,43 State ex rel Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d State v. Balistreri, 87 Wis. 2d 1, 247 N.W.2d 269 State v. Blaisdell, 85 Wis. 2d 175, 270 N.W.2d 69 State v. Clausen, 105 Wis. 2d 231, 313 N.W.2d 819 State v. Courtney, 74 Wis. 2d 705, 247 N.W.2d 714 (1976) .....16,27,28,32 State v. Evjue, 253 Wis. 2d 146, 33 N.W.2d 305 

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Troy Robert Lasecki State v. Fields, 2000 WI App 218, 239 Wis. 2d 38, 619 N.W.2d 279.....14 State v. Klessig, 211 Wis. 2d 194, 564 N.W.2d 716 State v. Lambert, 68 Wis. 2d 523, 229 N.W.2d 622 State v. Longmire, 2004 WI App 90, 272 Wis.2d 759, 681 N.W.2d 540.....24 State v. Smith, 2012 WI 91, 342 Wis.2d 710, 817 N.W.2d 540.....14,38 State v. Stepheniewski, 105 Wis. 2d 261, 314 N.W.2d 95 (1982).....17,29 State v. Tronca, 84 Wis. 2d 68, 567 N.W.2d 216 United States v. Grimaud, 220 U.S. 506, 31 S.Ct. 480, 55 L.Ed 563 (1911).....16,17,34 Washington v. Boughton, 884 F.3d 692 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, No. 18-7423, 2019 WL 1231872 (U.S. STATUTES CITED: Wis. Const. Art. I, §9m......44 Wis. Stat. §100.20..... Wis. Stat. §100.26.....5,7,16,18,20,24,26,27,28,43 Wis. Stat. ch 227.....15,22,24,33,34 

STATE OF WISC Wis. Stat.	CONSIN - VS - Troy Robert Lasecki §346.6322
Wis. Stat.	\$346.6522
Wis. Stat.	§450.1122
Wis. Stat.	§450.1822
Wis. Stat.	§704.1941
Wis. Stat.	§704.2817,18-20,29,30,31,32,34,42
Wis. Stat.	\$704.2910,40,41
Wis. Stat.	§704.4419,30
Wis. Stat.	§704.95
Wis. Stat.	\$809.1945
Wis. Stat.	\$809.227
Wis. Stat.	\$809.237
Wis. Stat.	\$939.5021
Wis. Stat.	\$939.6221
Wis. Stat.	\$939.63221
Wis. Stat.	\$940.0922
Wis. Stat.	\$950.04
Wis. Stat.	\$961.01
Wis. Stat.	\$961.14
Wis. Stat.	\$961.1621
Wis. Stat.	\$961.1821
Wis. Stat.	\$961.2021
Wis. Stat.	\$961.2221

# 

# ADMINISTRATIVE CODE CITED:

Wis.	Admn	Code §	S ATCI	P 134			••••	• • • •	
	• • • • •	7,10	5,18,1	19,20,24	4,25-27	7,28,30	,32,33	3,34,	36 <b>,</b> 39
Wis.	Admn.	Code	§ Ag	122	•••••			15,	18 <b>,</b> 20
Wis.	Admn.	Code	§ Ag	110	•••••				24

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Troy Robert Lasecki STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2018AP2340-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

TROY ROBERT LASECKI, Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN CIRCUIT COURT ONE FOR OUTAGAMIE COUNTY

The Honorable Mark J. McGinnis, Presiding

BRIEF & APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

# QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Considering several cases including State v. Lambert and State v. Balistreri found the criminal penalties in §§ 100.20 and 100.26, stats., for violating the ATCP code provide sufficient notice; do the code and statutes provide sufficient notice to a landlord that withholding a tenant's security deposit without explanation is a crime under §§ 100.20 and 100.26 and the ATCP Code?

The trial court answered yes. This court should answer yes.

2. The law requires landlords either to return the tenant's security deposit in full, or provide a statement of withholdings. Is that requirement too vague for a landlord to understand the requirement that they either return the security deposit or tell the tenant why they are not returning the deposit?

The trial court answered no. This court should answer no.

3. When the Court reads the jury instruction on mitigating damages, evidence is present on mitigating damages, and the parties discuss mitigated damages in opening statements and closing arguments; is the issue of mitigated damages fully litigated?

The trial court answered yes. This court should answer yes.

4. Boelter v. Tschantz unequivocally affirms that \$100.20(5), stats, provides that a tenant suffering a pecuniary loss because of a violation of § 100.20 shall recover twice the amount of that pecuniary loss. When a landlord violates § 100.20, does a Court violate the landlord's rights when it orders the

landlord to pay the tenant twice the amount of such pecuniary loss?

The trial court answered no. This court should answer no.

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Plaintiff-Respondent does not request oral argument. Pursuant to Rule § 809.22(2)(b), Stats., the briefs fully develop and explain the issues.

The Plaintiff-Respondent believes publication of this case is also unnecessary. Pursuant to Rule § 809.23(1)(b), Stats., this case involves the application of well-settled rules of law.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 12, 2017, the State of Wisconsin filed a criminal complaint charging Troy Lasecki with two counts of failing to return a security deposit contrary to Wis. Stat. \$\$100.20(2), 100.26(3) and Wis. Adm. Code § ATCP 134.06(2).<sup>1</sup> R.2 at 1. He was informed of his right to obtain an attorney of his choosing, the charges against him, and the maximum and minimum penalties. R. 70 at 4. The Court

confirmed he spoke English, has a high school diploma, and a work history. R. 75 at 18. The Court ensured Mr. Lasecki understood the basic expectations and documents he needed to represent himself, and Mr. Lasecki showed a basic understanding of the court process through his numerous filings. R. 4; R. 8; R. 9; R. 17; R. 19; R. 20; R. 21; R.22; R. 25; R. 28; R. 73; R. 74; R. 75; and R. 77. Mr. Lasecki freely, voluntarily and knowingly chose the counsel of his friend RB over a state licensed attorney. R. 75 at 18; and R. 77 at 12-15. Mr. Lasecki repeatedly and freely consulted with R.B. <sup>2</sup> (see examples R.77 at 85:12, 86:14, 113:3, 127:21, and 135:23 (not an exhaustive list)).

## Trial

The case proceeded to trial on March 27, 2018. After jury selection, the State gave its opening statement. R. 77 at 62. The State explained that the law requires landlords to "either return the full security deposit within 21 days of the end of the lease or provide a written statement with

<sup>1</sup> All references to the Wisconsin Statutes Wis. Adm. Code are to the 2015-16 version unless otherwise indicated. <sup>2</sup> The totality of the record shows Mr. Lasecki made the deliberate choice to proceed without counsel, was aware of difficulties and disadvantages of self-representation, was aware of seriousness of charges against him, and was aware of general range of penalties that could be imposed. See Washington v. Boughton, 884 F.3d 692, 702 (7th Cir. 2018), cert. denied, No. 18-7423, 2019 WL 1231872 (U.S. Mar. 18, 2019) (State may not constitutionally hale a person into its criminal courts and there

withholdings." R.77 at 62. The State repeatedly told the jury during opening statements that the landlord had the choice to either return the deposit in full or provide a statement of withholdings. R. 77 at 62-66.

JB, the first witness in the trial, testified that he rented an apartment from Mr. Lasecki. R. 77 at 70. He also testified that he provided a \$730 security deposit. R. 77 at 71. JB testified that, prior to signing the lease, he told Mr. Lasecki he planned to move out before the lease ended. R. 77 at 72. JB moved out of the apartment in June 2016, told Mr. Lasecki he moved out, and continued paying rent after he moved out. R. 77 at 73. JB cleaned the carpets and ensured it was ready to rent. R. 77 at 73. He notified Mr. Lasecki in several ways and several times that he was giving his 60 day notice of intent to vacate. R. 77 84. JB testified that even after moving out, at he continued trying to work with Mr. Lasecki to help re-rent the apartment and was committed to continuing to pay rent through the end of the lease if a new renter was not located. R. 77 at 89-90.

force a lawyer upon him); and see also State v. Klessig, 211 Wis. 2d 194, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997).

In September 2016, he observed that the apartment had new tenants. After seeing the apartment was re-rented, he stopped paying rent pursuant to \$704.29, stats. R. 77 at 73-74. JB contacted Mr. Lasecki in several manners but never received a response. R. 77 at 74-75. JB testified that he never received the security deposit back from Mr. Lasecki and never received any documents explaining why Mr. Lasecki did not return the deposit. R. 77 at 77-78 and 90.

JJ, the second witness called in the trial, testified that he signed a month-to-month lease for an apartment owned by Troy Lasecki. R. 77 at 92-93. The month-to-month lease was received into evidence. R. 77 at 93; and R. 40. JJ testified that he paid an \$840 security deposit. R. 77 at 94.

JJ testified that on April 28 he sent a text message to Mr. Lasecki telling him he was moving out, ending the month-to-month lease, and asked what form Mr. Lasecki wanted for the 60 day notice. R. 77 at 94. Mr. Lasecki responded that he needed the notice in a signed written letter, so JJ provided a signed written letter and placed that letter in the rent drop box as requested by Mr. Lasecki. R. 77 at 94. JJ then moved out of the apartment

on June 11. JJ testified he paid the rent for April, May, June, and July. R. 77 at 100.

JJ contacted Mr. Lasecki, provided his new address, and told Mr. Lasecki he could send the deposit to that address. R. 77 at 98. Mr. Lasecki replied "you are getting your deposit." R. 77 at 98; and R. 41. JJ never received his security deposit back and never received a written explanation of withholdings. R.77 at 95.

HP, the third witness called, testified on cross examination as to how the ATCP responds to complaints, including that the complaint goes to mediation first, before being assigned to an investigator. R. 77 at 107. He testified on cross that an investigator only receives the complaint if there are multiple violations or if a party does not respond. R. 77 at 107. HP laid the foundation for the response he received from Mr. Lasecki regarding the complaints, and that response was received into evidence and published to the jury. R.42 and R. 77 at 108-111, 120, 125.

Upon questioning by the Court, HP testified that his investigation found that neither JJ nor JB received their security deposit and neither received an itemized listing of deductions. R. 77 at 118.

After the required colloquy, Mr. Lasecki chose to testify on his own behalf. R. 77 at 128. He testified that he is an expert in "real estate and real estate brokerage into the intermingling of real estate profession." R. 77 at 150. Mr. Laseki testified regarding the damages he suffered from JB and JJ moving out early, including the lack of a caretaker for that apartment and the difference in rent for a month-to-month lease versus a 12 month lease. R. 77 at 148-149 and 151-153.

During cross-examination, Mr. Lasecki testified that he is a landlord and he owns real estate. R. 77 at 155. He admitted he rented apartments to JB and JJ. R.77 at 156. That he received security deposits from both JB and JJ. R. 77 at 156. That he never sent the security deposits back to either tenant. R. 77 at 156. He then testified that he sent an email communication to JB stating the tenant was not getting the security deposit back. R. 77 at 156.

The Jury asked Mr. Lasecki specifically about unpaid rent and when the apartments were re-rented. R. 77 at 159-162. Mr. Lasecki testified that he agreed JB's apartment was re-rented on October 1, 2016. R. 77 at 159. He then testified the building was not 100 percent occupied, but he did not recall which units were or were not occupied on

October 1, 2016. R. 77 at 160. In response to a jury question, and follow up by the court, Mr. Lasecki testified that he did not know if he received rent payments on those apartments. R. 77 at 161.

During closing arguments the prosecutor highlighted the burden of proof and elements of the offense, including intent and damages. (R.77 at 178:19-22, 179:6-13, 181:12-18, and 183:3-184.5.)

After deliberation, the Jury came to a unanimous verdict, finding Troy Robert Lasecki guilty of all charged offenses. R. 77 at 192-196.

# Sentencing

At sentencing, Mr. Lasecki was placed on probation and ordered to pay restitution plus the surcharge and to pay JB an additional \$730 and JJ an additional \$840, without any surcharge. The Court specifically explained that the nonrestitution payments are required "because the statutes and the code in the state of Wisconsin allow for double damages when a landlord violates that section of the code." R. 77 at 218. This appeal followed.

# STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Troy Robert Lasecki STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues present mixed questions of law and fact. The issues primarily present questions of law which the court of appeals reviews independently of the circuit court. *Boelter v. Tschantz*, 2010 WI App 18, ¶6, 323 Wis. 2d 208, 213, 779 N.W.2d 469, 470. When issues of fact arise, the court of appeals accepts the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Fields*, 2000 WI App 218, ¶9, 239 Wis. 2d 38, 619 N.W.2d 279.

The standard of review on appeal for sufficiency of the evidence is "whether the evidence adduced, believed and rationally considered by the trier of fact was sufficient to prove the defendant's doubt." *State v. Blaisdell*, 85 Wis. 2d 172, 180, 270 N.W.2d 69 (1978). "An appellate court must consider the totality of the evidence when conducting a sufficiency of the evidence inquiry." *State v. Smith*, 2012 WI 91,  $\P$  36, 342 Wis. 2d 710, 732-33, 817 N.W.2d 410, 421.

The public policy behind § 100.20, Stats., is to provide an incentive for tenants to pursue their rights and to discourage landlords from withholding security deposits except in the clearest of cases. *Pierce v. Norwick*, 202 Wis. 2d 587, 594, 550 N.W.2d 451, 454 (Ct. App. 1996); and *Armour v. Klecker*, 169 Wis.2d 692, 699-701, 486 N.W.2d 563, 566 (Ct.App.1992).

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